**NO. 47538-6-II**

**COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,**

**DIVISION II**

---

**STATE OF WASHINGTON,**

**Respondent,**

**vs.**

**LEO FANNON,**

**Appellant.**

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

**John A. Hays, No. 16654  
Attorney for Appellant**

**1402 Broadway  
Suite 103  
Longview, WA 98632  
(360) 423-3084**

## ***ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR***

### ***Assignment of Error***

1. The prosecutor committed misconduct and thereby denied the defendant his due process right to a fair trial when he repeatedly mischaracterized a coat a police officer found as “Mr. Fannon’s jacket.”

2. Trial counsel’s failure to object when the state repeatedly mischaracterized evidence and elicited inadmissible, prejudicial facts from its witnesses denied the defendant effective assistance of counsel under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 22, and United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment.

*Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error*

1. Does a prosecutor commit misconduct and thereby deny a defendant the process right to a fair trial if the prosecutor repeatedly mischaracterizes a critical piece of evidence, and there is a substantial likelihood that the mischaracterization affected the jury's verdict?

2. In a case in which the state charges a defendant with possession of drugs with intent to deliver, does a trial counsel's failure to object deny that defendant effective assistance of counsel when (1) the prosecutor repeatedly mischaracterizes a coat containing the drugs as "the defendant's jacket," (2) when the prosecutor calls upon a state's witness to render an opinion on guilt and comment on the defendant's credibility, and (3) when the prosecutor elicits evidence upon the defendant's exercise of his right to silence, if the trial court would have sustained timely made objections to the improper evidence and the failure to object undermines confidence in the outcome of the trial?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### *Factual History*

On November 12, 2014, a number of officers associated with the Longview Police Department Street Crimes Unit executed a warrant at 2121 Sycamore Street in Longview. RP 122-123.<sup>1</sup> Upon entering the residence the officers found and handcuffed six or seven people present. RP 164-166, 229. One person in the home was the Defendant Leo Fannon, whom one officer found walking out of one of the bedrooms. RP 126-127. A search of that bedroom uncovered the following items: a small baggie of methamphetamine on a night stand, a small baggie of heroin on a night stand, personal use drug paraphernalia on the night stand and a black leather coat found somewhere in the room. RP 128-130. The coat had the following items in it: a large baggie of methamphetamine, small digital scales, eight oxycodone pills, ten methadone pills, two clonazepam pills and a black bag containing small plastic baggies. RP 132-149.

The officers also searched the defendant's person and seized his wallet. RP 145, 235. Inside the wallet they found \$2,615.00 in cash, most of it in twenties, tens and fives. *Id.* According to the officers the defendant

---

<sup>1</sup>The record on appeal includes three volumes of continuously numbered verbatim reports, which include the two day of trial and the subsequent sentencing hearing. They are referred to herein as "RP [page#]."



claimed that he had obtained the money buying, repairing and then selling used automobiles. RP 235-236. However, according to the same officers the defendant told them that “the drugs” in the bedroom belonged to him. *Id.*

### ***Procedural History***

By information filed November 17, 2014, and later amended, the Cowlitz County Prosecuting Attorney charged the defendant Leo Andrew Fannon with possession of methamphetamine with intent to deliver within 1,000 feet of a school zone, possession of heroin, possession of methadone, possession of oxycodone, and possession of clonazepam. CP 5-7, 33-35. The case later came on for trial with the state calling six witnesses, including Longview Officer Ray Hartley, who helped execute the warrant. RP 120-159. During his testimony Officer Hartley told the jury about finding a black leather coat in the bedroom that the defendant was leaving and about discovering its contents. RP 133. Although he stated that he found it in the bedroom, he did provide any facts to support the conclusion that it belonged to the defendant other than it appeared to the officer to be his size. *Id.* This testimony went as follows:

MR. SURYAN: Sergeant Hartley, where was that scale found?

WITNESS: Inside of a jacket in that bedroom.

MR. SURYAN: In that same bedroom that you were in before?

WITNESS: Yes.

MR. SURYAN: And do you know anything about the jacket itself? Do you know what kind of jacket it was?

WITNESS: I believe it was a black leather jacket.

MR. SURYAN: Do you know what size?

WITNESS: Mr. Fannon's size, actually; it looked to be about a medium.

MR. SURYAN: When you say Mr. Fannon's size, did you try it on him?

WITNESS: No.

MR. SURYAN: So that's just a guess?

WITNESS: No, I have other information that would corroborate that.

RP 133.

Although Officer Harley claimed to "have other information that would corroborate" his claim that the jacket was the defendant's, no such evidence was ever presented to the jury. RP 120-159. In spite of this fact, the prosecutor referred to the coat as "Mr. Fannon's jacket" on three subsequent occasions without objection from the defense. RP 140, 142, 144.

The following provides these references:

Q. Now, besides these eight pills, did you locate anything else inside of Mr. Fannon's jacket?

. . . .

Q. Okay. And were this – was that the only things you found in Mr. Fannon's jacket?

Q. Okay. Thank you, Sergeant Hartley. Now, you indicated you found these items in Mr. Fannon's jacket, is that correct?

RP 140, 142, 144.

In addition, during trial the state called Longview Officer Seth Libbui, who also helped execute the search warrant at 2121 Sycamore Street. RP 222-260. According to Officer Libbui, he believed the person who possessed the drugs they recovered was dealing them to other persons. *Id.* His testimony was as follows on this point:

Q. Okay. Did you ask him any questions about whether he was actively selling controlled substances or anything about the money that was found on his person?

A. I did question him. When I – when I had observed the stuff, I had had – it looked consistent with dealing and so – and that – then that's kind of the angle I started talking to him about, and I said, you know, it's – then I explained to him that's what I saw and – and he said it wasn't. He said that was – he wasn't dealing drugs, that – that they were from automotive sales, that he fixes up cars to sell them.

Q. Okay. Now, why were you asking him about the money that you had located and the drugs that you had located?

A. Because the amount of money and – and the way the – the smaller denominations were built up, it was – and – and the whole image of the – of the room, with the scale stuff and – and the – and even the setup of the house, how many people were there, that's all consistent with people selling or trafficking narcotics to the people waiting to buy, and the money – and the money, the same thing. It just adds to that whole – that whole case.

RP 234-235.

The defense offered no objection to this evidence. *Id.* During his testimony, Officer Libbui also told the jury, again without objection, that he didn't believe what the defendant told him. RP 236. This exchange went as follows:

Q. So why are you asking him these types of questions?

A. Because – well, I didn't believe him. The way he said it to me and the evidence, I – I initially didn't feel that that matched up to what I saw.

RP 236.

Finally, Officer Libbui testified, again without defense objection, that the defendant refused to provide him with certain answers to his questions.

RP 236-237. This exchange went as follows:

Q. Was he – was he providing you with any information as to how he acquired this money at this point?

A. He wouldn't. He – he was unable to provide me anything, any – anything factual of who he sold it to. All the questions I just mentioned, there was no evidence provided to me that could verify that.

Q. Okay. So you – so you had been unable to verify any – any information he was providing to you?

A. I had no start. There was absolutely nothing that would point me in even a direction where I could even call someone, or look up something in a DMV record, or there's no – I mean, there's nothing. He – I was given nothing to work with, so –

RP 236-237.

In this case the state also called two witnesses who provided evidence that the house at 2121 Sycamore was within 1,000 of the perimeter of Mark Morris High School. RP 173-180, 260-279. Finally, the state called a forensic scientist, who testified that the items in the baggies were methamphetamine and heroin, and that the pills were methadone, oxycodone, clonazepam. RP 279-306.

Following the close of the state's case the defendant took the stand on his own behalf. RP 308-336. He testified that he did not live at the house the police searched, that the jacket did not belong to him, and that he had just entered the bedroom to get items he had left in the closet when the officers arrived. RP 308-312, 317-320, 333. He denied that he had anything to do with the drugs recovered and he affirmed that he had earned the money the police took from his wallet by fixing and selling cars. *Id.*

After the defense closed its case the court instructed the jury without objection from the state or the defense. RP 337-338, 342-361. The parties then presented closing argument, after which the jury retired for deliberation. RP 361-393. The jury eventually returned verdicts of guilty on each count, along with a special verdict that the defendant committed Count I within 1,000 feet of a school. RP 396-403; CP 66-72. The court later sentenced the defendant within the standard range, after which the defendant filed timely notice of appeal. CP 74-86; RP 404-413.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE PROSECUTOR COMMITTED MISCONDUCT AND THEREBY DENIED THE DEFENDANT HIS DUE PROCESS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL WHEN HE REPEATEDLY MISCHARACTERIZED THE COAT AS “MR. FANNON’S JACKET.”**

While due process under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3 and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment does not guarantee every person a perfect trial, it does guarantee all defendants a fair trial. *State v. Swenson*, 62 Wn.2d 259, 382 P.2d 614 (1963); *Bruton v. United States*, 391 U.S. 123, 20 L.Ed.2d 476, 88 S.Ct. 1620 (1968). This due process right to a fair trial is violated when the prosecutor commits misconduct. *State v. Charlton*, 90 Wn.2d 657, 585 P.2d 142 (1978). To prove prosecutorial misconduct, the defendant bears the burden of proving that the state’s conduct was both improper and prejudicial. *State v. Brown*, 132 Wn.2d 529, 940 P.2d 546 (1997). In order to prove prejudice, the defendant has the burden of proving a substantial likelihood that the misconduct affected the jury’s verdict. *State v. Evans*, 96 Wn.2d 1, 633 P.2d 83 (1981).

For example, in *State v. Barrow*, 60 Wn.App. 869, 809 P.2d 209 (1991), the state charged a defendant with possession of cocaine residue found in a pipe the defendant had on his person when arrested. During trial the defendant claimed unwitting possession. To rebut this claim the state called an undercover officer, who testified that a little earlier that same

evening the defendant had sold him a small amount of powder that the defendant claimed was cocaine. The defendant denied ever having contact with this officer.

During closing the state argued to the jury that the defendant's testimony denying the encounter with the officer constituted a claim that the officer was lying. The jury later convicted the defendant, who appealed, arguing in part that the prosecutor had committed misconduct when he argued to the jury that the defendant had called the testifying officer a liar because this argument mischaracterized the defendant's testimony. Although the Court of Appeals found the error harmless, it did hold that it constituted misconduct for the state to mischaracterize evidence. The court held:

Other courts, moreover, consistently have found liar arguments similar to those at issue here to be improper. They reason that arguments about a defendant's opinion of the government's witnesses' credibility are irrelevant and interfere with the jury's duty to make credibility determinations. Based upon this authority and the related Washington cases of *Green* and *Brown*, we hold the arguments at issue here to be misconduct. It was a mischaracterization to say that the defendant was calling the officers liars. The officers simply could have been mistaken about the seller's identity. Furthermore, the jurors did not need to "completely disbelieve" the officers' testimony in order to acquit Barrow; all that they needed was to entertain a reasonable doubt that it was Barrow who made the sale to Officer O'Neal.

*State v. Barrow*, 60 Wn.App. at 875-76 (citations omitted).

In the case at bar the prosecutor committed misconduct then he referred to the coat Officer Hartley found in the bedroom of the residence as

“Mr. Fannon’s jacket” on three subsequent occasions. RP 140, 142, 144.

These references were as follows:

Q. Now, besides these eight pills, did you locate anything else inside of Mr. Fannon’s jacket?

. . . .

Q. Okay. And were this – was that the only things you found in Mr. Fannon’s jacket?

. . . .

Q. Okay. Thank you, Sergeant Hartley. Now, you indicated you found these items in Mr. Fannon’s jacket, is that correct?

RP 140, 142, 144.

The reason the state’s repeated description of the jacket containing the drugs constituted misconduct is because the state did not present any evidence to support this claim. Although Officer Hartley had claimed that there was such evidence, the state did not present it to the jury. Officer Hartley’s testimony on this point was as follows:

MR. SURYAN: Sergeant Hartley, where was that scale found?

WITNESS: Inside of a jacket in that bedroom.

MR. SURYAN: In that same bedroom that you were in before?

WITNESS: Yes.

MR. SURYAN: And do you know anything about the jacket itself? Do you know what kind of jacket it was?

WITNESS: I believe it was a black leather jacket.



MR. SURYAN: Do you know what size?

WITNESS: Mr. Fannon's size, actually; it looked to be about a medium.

MR. SURYAN: When you say Mr. Fannon's size, did you try it on him?

WITNESS: No.

MR. SURYAN: So that's just a guess?

WITNESS: No, I have other information that would corroborate that.

RP 133.

In this case the state argued that the jacket belonged to the defendant but it presented no evidence to support this claim. Thus, in the same manner that the state mischaracterized the defendant's testimony in *Barrow*, so the state mischaracterized Officer Hartley's testimony in the case at bar. Consequently, in the same manner that the mischaracterization in *Barrow* constituted misconduct, so the mischaracterization in the case at bar constituted misconduct.

In this case the evidence presented at trial was fairly strong that the owner of the jacket possessed the methamphetamine found in the jacket with the intent to deliver it. Not only was there a large amount of drugs, but there were also baggies and digital scales in the jacket. However, the evidence that the jacket belonged to the defendant was very weak. Officer Hartley did not seize the jacket, have the defendant try it on, or directly ask the defendant if

the jacket belonged to him. Neither did Officer Hartley present any evidence that the defendant had been living in the bedroom or that any items found in the bedroom were directly associated with the defendant. Thus, in this case the prosecutor's mischaracterization of the coat as "the defendant's jacket" provided the bridge between the lack of evidence on the one side and the conclusion on the other side that the state had presented proof beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant owned the jacket and drugs contained therein. The conclusion then follows that there is a substantial likelihood that the misconduct affected the jury's verdict. As a result, this court should reverse the defendant's conviction and remand for a new trial.

**II. TRIAL COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO OBJECT WHEN THE STATE REPEATEDLY MISCHARACTERIZED EVIDENCE AND ELICITED INADMISSIBLE, PREJUDICIAL FACTS FROM ITS WITNESSES DENIED THE DEFENDANT EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.**

Under both United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment, and Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 22, the defendant in any criminal prosecution is entitled to effective assistance of counsel. The standard for judging claims of ineffective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment is "whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversary process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686,

80 L.Ed.2d 674, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984). In determining whether counsel's assistance has met this standard, the Supreme Court has set a two part test.

First, a convicted defendant must show that trial counsel's performance fell below that required of a reasonably competent defense attorney. Second, the convicted defendant must then go on to show that counsel's conduct caused prejudice. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687, 80 L.Ed.2d at 693, 104 S.Ct. at 2064-65. The test for prejudice is "whether there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result in the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Church v. Kinchelse*, 767 F.2d 639, 643 (9th Cir. 1985) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694, 80 L.Ed.2d at 698, 104 S.Ct. at 2068). In essence, the standard under the Washington Constitution is identical. *State v. Cobb*, 22 Wn.App. 221, 589 P.2d 297 (1978) (counsel must have failed to act as a reasonably prudent attorney); *State v. Johnson*, 29 Wn.App. 807, 631 P.2d 413 (1981) (counsel's ineffective assistance must have caused prejudice to client).

In the case at bar, the defendant claims ineffective assistance based upon trial counsel's failure to object when the prosecutor (1) called upon a state's witness to render an opinion on guilt and comment on the defendant's credibility, and (2) when the prosecutor elicited evidence upon the

defendant's exercise of his right to silence. The following sets out these arguments.

***(1) Trial Counsel's Failure to Object When the Prosecutor Called upon a State's Witness to Render an Opinion on Guilt and Comment on the Defendant's Credibility Denied the Defendant Effective Assistance of Counsel.***

Under both Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment a prosecutor should never assert his or her personal opinion as to the "credibility of a witness" or the "guilt or innocence of an accused." *State v. Reed*, 102 Wn.2d 140, 684 P.2d 699 (1984). Any such expression on the credibility of a witness or expressing a "personal belief in the defendant's guilt" is "not only unethical but extremely prejudicial." *State v. Case*, 49 Wn.2d 66, 68, 298 P.2d 500 (1956). Thus, a prosecutor should never introduce "evidence of any matter immaterial or irrelevant to the single issue to be determined." *State v. Devlin*, 145 Wn. 44, 49, 258 P. 826 (1927). The courts "will not allow such testimony, in the guise of argument, whether or not defense counsel objected or sought a curative instruction." *State v. Belgarde*, 110 Wn.2d 504, 508, 755 P.2d 174 (1988).

Similarly, under both Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 22 and United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment, a defendant is entitled to have his or her case decided upon the evidence adduced at trial, not upon the

opinions of attorneys, the courts or the witnesses concerning the credibility of witnesses, the evidence, or the guilt of the defendant. *State v. Casteneda-Perez*, 61 Wn.App. 354, 360, 810 P.2d 74 (1991). Thus, it is improper for the prosecutor to elicit evidence of any person's personal opinion about the credibility of himself, herself, or another witness. *State v. Reed*, 102 Wn.2d 140, 145, 684 P.2d 699 (1984). As part of this right, it is also improper for the state to attempt to get the defendant to comment on the credibility of the state's witnesses. *State v. Suarez-Bravo*, 72 Wn.App. 359, 366, 864 P.2d 426 (1994).

For example, in *State v. Jerrels*, 83 Wn.App. 503, 925 P.2d 209 (1996), the defendant was convicted of Rape of a Child and Child Molestation after a trial in which the trial court permitted the state to ask the defendant's wife whether or not she believed that her children were telling the truth. The defendant appealed his convictions arguing that this line of questioning denied him his right to a fair trial. In addressing this argument, the Court of Appeals first noted that it was error for the court to allow a witness to comment on the credibility of another witness. The court stated:

A prosecutor commits misconduct when his or her cross examination seeks to compel a witness' opinion as to whether another witness is telling the truth. Such questioning invades the jury's province and is unfair and misleading. The questions asked of Mrs. Jerrels were clearly improper because the prosecutor inquired whether she believed the children were telling the truth; thus, misconduct occurred. In another sexual abuse case, we held recently that

reversible error occurred when a pediatrician was allowed to testify that, based on the child's statements, she believed the child had been abused.

*State v. Jerrels*, 83 Wn.App. at 507-508 (citations omitted).

As the court states: "A prosecutor commits misconduct when his or her cross examination seeks to compel a witness' opinion as to whether another witness is telling the truth." Thus, it was error in *Jerrels* for the prosecutor to ask the defendant's wife whether or not she believed her children.

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