NO. 47528-6-II

**IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF
WASHINGTON,**

DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

LEO FANNON,

Appellant.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

RYAN JURVAKAINEN
Prosecuting Attorney
SEAN BRITTAIN/WSBA 36804
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Representing Respondent

HALL OF JUSTICE
312 SW FIRST
KELSO, WA 98626
(360) 577-3080

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

IV. ARGUMENTS

A. **THE STATE DID NOT COMMIT MISCONDUCT WHEN IT REFERRED TO THE JACKET AS BELONGING TO THE APPELLANT.**

All of the Appellant's claims of prosecutor misconduct are waived because he did not object at trial. "A defendant's failure to object to a prosecuting attorney's improper remark constitutes a waiver of such error, unless the remark is deemed so flagrant and ill-intentioned that it evinces an enduring and resulting prejudice that could not have been neutralized by an admonition to the jury." *State v. Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d 668, 718, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997) (citing *State v. Gentry*, 125 Wn.2d 570, 596, 888 P.2d 1105 (1995)). All of the Appellant's claims of prosecutor misconduct share a similar trait—in no instance did the Appellant object. Further, in none of these instances was evidence elicited or argument made by the prosecutor improper. For these reasons, his claims of prosecutor misconduct were waived.

With all claims of misconduct, "the defendant bears the burden of establishing that the conduct complained of was both improper and

prejudicial.” *Id.* at 718 (citing *State v. Mak*, 105 Wn.2d 692, 726, 718 P.2d 407 (1986); *State v. Luvene*, 127 Wn.2d 690, 701, 903 P.2d 960 (1995)). The court reviews the effect of allegedly improper comments not in isolation, but in the context of the total argument and the issues in the case. *State v. Brown*, 132 Wn.2d 529, 561, 940 P.2d 546 (1997). Even if it is shown that the conduct was improper “prosecutorial misconduct still does not constitute prejudicial error unless the appellate court determines there is a substantial likelihood the misconduct affected the jury’s verdict.” *Stenson*, 125 Wn.2d at 718-19.

If the defendant objects at trial, to prove prosecutorial misconduct, the defendant must first establish that the question posed by the prosecutor was improper. *Id.* at 722 (citing *State v. Brett*, 126 Wn.2d 136, 175, 892 P.2d 29 (1995)). However, when the defendant fails to object, a heightened standard of review applies: “[F]ailure to object to an improper remark constitutes a waiver of error unless the remark is so flagrant and ill-intentioned that it causes an enduring and resulting prejudice that could not have been neutralized by an admonition to the jury.” *State v. Russell*, 125 Wn.2d 24, 86, 882 P.2d 747 (1994). (citing *State v. Hoffman*, 116 Wn.2d 51, 93, 804 P.2d 577 (1991); *State v. York*, 50 Wn. App. 446, 458-59, 749 P.2d 683 (1987)). The wisdom underlying this rule is so that a party may not “remain silent at trial as to claimed errors and later, if the verdict is

adverse, urge trial objections for the first time in a motion for new trial or appeal.” *State v. Bebb*, 44 Wn. App. 803, 806, 723 P.2d 512 (1986); *see also Jones v. Hogan*, 56 Wn.2d 23, 27, 351 P.2d 153 (1960) (“If misconduct occurs, the trial court must be promptly asked to correct it. Counsel may not remain silent, speculating upon a favorable verdict, and then, when it is adverse, use the claimed misconduct as a life preserver on a motion for new trial or on appeal.”).

“Where improper argument is charged, the defense bears the burden of establishing the impropriety of the prosecuting attorney’s comments as well as their prejudicial effect.” *Russell*, 125 Wn.2d at 85 If a defendant—who did not object at trial—can establish that misconduct occurred, then he or she must also show that “(1) no curative instruction would have obviated any prejudicial effect on the jury and (2) the misconduct resulted in prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury verdict.” *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 760-61, 278 P.3d 653 (2012) (citation omitted); *In re Pers. Restraint of Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d 696, 704 (2012). Under this heightened standard, “[r]eviewing courts should focus less on whether the prosecutor’s misconduct was flagrant or ill-intentioned and more on whether the resulting prejudice could have been cured.” *Id.* at 762; *State v. Russell*, 125 Wn.2d 24, 85, 882 P.2d 747 (1994) (“Reversal is not required if the error could have been obviated by a curative instruction

which the defense did not request.”). Importantly, “[t]he absence of a motion for mistrial at the time of the argument strongly suggests to a court that the argument or event in question did not appear critically prejudicial to an appellant in the context of the trial.” *State v. Swan*, 114 Wn.2d 613, 661, 790 P.2d 610 (1990) (citations omitted).

Here, the Appellant’s argument mischaracterizes the State’s evidence in an attempt to persuade this court that the prosecution committed misconduct. The testimony that was presented by the State was more specific and detailed than the Appellant presented to this court in his brief. The Appellant focuses on one portion of the testimony and ignores subsequent testimony that defeats his argument.

During direct examination, the State asked Sgt. Hartley if he would recognize the jacket if he saw it again. Sgt. Hartley responded that he would and that it was sitting on the back of the Appellant’s chair. 1RP at 144. In other words, Sgt. Hartley identified the jacket that the Appellant wore to his trial as being the same jacket that he located on November 12, 2014 when he contacted the Appellant.

Additionally, Det. Libbey testified that he spoke with the Appellant, and was told that the room the Appellant was seen exiting at the time the detectives entered the residence was his room. 2RP at 234. This is the same room that the jacket was found, the same jacket that the Appellant wore to

the trial. Det. Libbey then asked the Appellant about the controlled substance and drug paraphernalia that was located in the room that he had just acknowledged was his. The Appellant told Det. Libbey that the controlled substances and drug paraphernalia were his. 2RP at 234.

As state above, the State did not commit misconduct by referring to the jacket as belonging to the Appellant. The Appellant admitted to Det. Libbey that the room was his. The Appellant admitted to Det. Libbey that the controlled substance and paraphernalia in the room were his. The jacket was found in the Appellant's room. Sgt. Hartley specifically pointed out to the jury that the jacket the Appellant wore to trial was the same jacket he searched on November 12, 2014. Thus, the State properly argued the evidence presented to the jury.

B. THE APPELLANT DID NOT RECEIVE INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient and that prejudice resulted from that deficiency. *Strickland v. Washington*, 446 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); *State v. Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d 222, 225, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). Thus, one claiming ineffective assistance must show that in light of the entire record, no legitimate strategic or tactical reasons support the challenged conduct. *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335-

36, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). Prejudice is not established unless it can be shown that “there is a reasonable probability that, except for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Id.* at 335.

Whether counsel is effective is determined by the following test: “[a]fter considering the entire record, can it be said that the accused was afforded an effective representation and a fair and impartial trial?” *State v. Jury*, 19 Wn. App. 256, 262, 576 P.2d 1302 (1978) (citing *State v. Myers*, 86 Wn.2d 419, 424, 545 P.2d 538 (1976)). Moreover, “[t]his test places a weighty burden on the defendant to prove two things: first, considering the entire record, that he was denied effective representation, and second, that he was prejudiced thereby.” *Id.* at 263. The first prong of this two-part test requires the defendant to show “that his . . . lawyer failed to exercise the customary skills and diligence that a reasonably competent attorney would exercise under similar circumstances.” *State v. Visitacion*, 55 Wn. App. 166, 173, 776 P.2d 986, 990 (1989) (citing *State v. Sardinia*, 42 Wn. App. 533, 539, 713 P.2d 122, review denied, 105 Wn.2d 1013 (1986)). The second prong requires the defendant to show “there is a reasonable probability that, but for the counsel’s errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Id.* at 173.

1. The Appellant has not shown that his trial counsel's performance was deficient.

“If trial counsel’s conduct can be characterized as legitimate trial strategy or tactics, it cannot serve as a basis for a claim that the defendant received ineffective assistance of counsel.” *State v. McNeal*, 145 Wn. App. 352, 362, 37 P.3d 280 (2002). Trial counsel has “wide latitude in making tactical decisions.” *Sardinia*, 42 Wn. App. at 542. “Such decisions, though perhaps viewed as wrong by others, do not amount to ineffective assistance of counsel.” *Id.* (citing *Strickland*, 446 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. at 2065). The appellate court should strongly presume that defense counsel’s conduct constituted sound trial strategy. *State v. Barragan*, 102 Wn. App. 754, 762, 9 P.3d 942 (2000). Of course, if trial counsel would not have succeeded in a course of action a defendant claims should have been taken at trial, it cannot form the basis of an ineffective assistance claim. *See State v. Nichols*, 161 Wn.2d 1, 14-15, 162 P.3d 1122 (2007).

Here, the Appellant has not provided any analysis to suggest that his trial counsel’s failure to object was deficient. Instead, the Appellant attempts to shoehorn his prosecutorial misconduct argument by suggesting that the State attempted to elicit opinion evidence on the Appellant’s credibility and commented on his right to remain silent. Again, as with the above argument, the Appellant is mischaracterizing the testimony and

assuming the State's intentions behind its line of questioning. Additionally, the Appellant fails to address how the Appellant's trial counsel's failure to object was not a tactical decision.

In regards to the "opinion testimony, the State questioned Det. Libbey about his interaction with the Appellant. The Appellant told Det. Libbey that the money found in his room and amongst his possessions were the proceeds from car sales. The State then questioned Det. Libbey about his interest in the money he had located. Det. Libbey explained how the money, the room, the items found in the room, the setup of the house, and the amount of people that were present in the house were consistent with drug trafficking. 2RP at 234-35. None of this is improper testimony.

Det. Libbey then went on to explain that, in regards to money located during the execution of a search warrant, he has previously been provided with alternative explanations. 2RP at 236. Det. Libbey then testified that he asked the Appellant numerous follow-up questions about the source of the money – "what cars, who did you sell them to, do you have any documentation?" 2RP at 236. The State then asked Det. Libbey why he was asking these questions. Det. Libbey then testified that "Because, -- well, I didn't believe him. The way he said it to me and the evidence, I -- I initially didn't feel that that matched up to what I saw." 2RP at 236. This is the quote that the Appellant hinges his argument on.

The State, in no way, intended to elicit testimony from Det. Libbey about the Appellant's credibility. When referring to the record as a whole, rather than one quote, it is clear that the State was intending on having Det. Libbey explain why he asked follow-up questions as to the Appellant claim that he received the money from car sales. The State did not know Det. Libbey was going to make any statement about what he believed or did not believe. Det. Libbey had just explained how, in his experience, the situation he was observing was consistent with drug trafficking. The Appellant offered up an alternative explanation and Det. Libbey attempted to explore that.

Additionally, it should be noted that the questionable testimony was about the money that was located. It was not in reference to the drugs that were found, nor any drug dealing activities. Det. Libbey's statement indicated that he did not believe that Appellant sold cars. The statement did not render an opinion as to guilt, nor did it make the jury question the Appellant's credibility.

In regards to the testimony that elicited evidence on the Appellant's right to remain silent, the Appellant, again, mischaracterizes the record. "The right to remain silent, or the privilege against self-incrimination, is based upon Amendment V of the United State Constitution which provides in pertinent part that '[n]o person...shall be compelled in any criminal case

to be a witness against himself...” *State v. Sweet*, 138 Wn.2d 466, 480, 980 P.2d 1223 (1999). Prior to any custodial interrogation, a suspect must be informed of his *Miranda*¹ warnings. *State v. Piatnitsky*, 180 Wn.2d 407, 412, 325 P.3d 167 (2014). “It is well established that *Miranda* rights must be invoked unambiguously.” *Id.* at 413 (citing *Davis v. United States*, 512 U.S. 452, 459, 114 S.Ct. 2350, 129 L.Ed.2d 362 (1994); *State v. Radcliffe*, 164 Wn.2d 900, 906, 194 P.3d 250 (2008)).

The Appellant points to the same interaction with Det. Libbey. As explained by Det. Libbey, the Appellant was questioned further about his claims that the money located amongst his property was the proceeds from car sales. Det. Libbey testified that he asked the Appellant for specific information about these car sales – “what cars, who did you sell them to, do you have any documentation.” 2RP at 236. Det. Libbey then testified that the Appellant could not answer these questions: “he was unable to provide me anything, any –anything factual of who he sold it to.” 2RP at 236. This is not a comment on a person’s right to remain silent. This is testimony that the Appellant was unable to provide information upon request.

The Appellant was informed of his constitutional rights. He waived those rights and agreed to speak to Det. Libbey. Upon being questioned, he made statements. Upon further questioning, he was unable to provide

¹ *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966).

further information to support his statements. He did not invoke his rights to remain silent. He did not refuse to answer questions. He did not ignore the questions. The testimony that was presented to the jury only shows that after he agreed to answer questions, he could not answer the questions.

Appellant's trial counsel failure to object during this testimony can be considered tactical. Det. Libbey was providing much of the context of what the Appellant's own testimony would later address. Much of the Appellant's claims at trial were that everyone had it wrong, that no one would listen to him, and that these assumptions about his presence in the house and his source of income were misconstrued. Det. Libbey incidentally provided the Appellant with the context of those positions. Thus, it would be logical to not object when it gives the jury two opportunities to hear the Appellant's defense.

2. The Appellant has not shown that he suffered prejudice.

"Prejudice is established if the defendant shows that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the outcome of the proceeding would have been different." *Nichols*, 161 Wn.2d at 8 (citing *State v. Reichenbach*, 153 Wn.2d 126, 130, 101 P.3d 80 (2004)). As with the prosecutorial misconduct argument, the Appellant has not established that he was prejudiced and that the outcome of the trial would

have been different had his trial counsel objected. The Appellant admitted the room was his. The Appellant admitted the controlled substances and paraphernalia was his. The Appellant attempted to explain where the money came from, but was ultimately unable to do so. The Appellant wore the same jacket found by Sgt. Hartley to his trial. The outcome of the trial would not have changed had his trial counsel objected to any of the Appellant's alleged errors. Furthermore, because none of these alleged errors is prosecutorial misconduct, it was not ineffective to fail to object.

V. CONCLUSION

The State did not commit misconduct. The Appellant did not receive ineffective assistance of counsel. As such, the Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.